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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Inre: ; Chapter 11
WINDSTREAM FINANCE CORP., et al.,! ; Case No. 19-22397 (RDD)
Reorganized Debtors. ; (Formerly Jointly Administered under
) Lead Case: Windstream Holdings, Inc.,
) Case No. 19-22312)
WINDSTREAM KDL, LLC ;
Plaintiff, ; Adversary Proceeding
V. ; Case No.21- (RDD)
CMN-RUS, INC. §
Defendant. ;
ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

The above-captioned debtors (the “Debtors™), as reorganized pursuant to and under the

Plan (defined below) (collectively, the “Reorganized Debtors”), bring this Original Complaint

against CMN-RUS, Inc. (“CMN”), seeking (1) reimbursement for excess payments by

Windstream KDL, LLC (“Windstream KDL”) to CMN, (2) payment for CMN’s use of

Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis site racks and power, and (3) payment for CMN’s outstanding
invoices for fiber optic cable installation on a third-party’s utility pole network through

Windstream KDL’s private contract with that third party, and respectfully alleges as follows:

1 The last four digits of Reorganized Debtor Windstream Finance Corp.’s tax identification number are 5713. Due
to the large number of Reorganized Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, for which joint administration has been
granted, a complete list of the debtor entities and the last four digits of their federal tax identification numbers is
not provided herein. A complete list of such information may be obtained on the website of the Reorganized
Debtors’ claims and noticing agent at http://www.kccllc.net/windstream. The location of the Reorganized
Debtors’ service address for purposes of these Chapter 11 Cases is: 4001 North Rodney Parham Road, Little

Rock, Arkansas 72212.
: LA
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NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. On February 25, 2019, the Debtors filed voluntary petitions for relief under title 11

of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. 88 101-1532 (the “Bankruptcy Code”). CMN submitted to

the Bankruptcy Court its proof of claims, to which certain Debtors have objected, all of which is
set forth in detail below. In pursuing some of these claims, however, CMN has not accounted for
its own outstanding debts owed to Windstream KDL.

2. Prior to the filing of the bankruptcy petitions, Windstream KDL and CMN had
entered into a number of contractual agreements for services that include the provision of rack
space and power to each party’s benefit. Both Windstream KDL and CMN have used and continue
to use rack space and power to deliver services to their respective customers. In general, the parties
enjoy these services, which are mutually beneficial, in consideration for the provision of rack space
and power at one another’s facilities.

3. Despite these contractual agreements, CMN overcharged Windstream KDL for
excess rack space that Windstream KDL did not utilize. Based on information known to date,
Windstream KDL inadvertently overpaid $896,703.32 for services in Evansville, Indiana, that
CMN did not provide or that should have been provided without charge, per the agreements. CMN
therefore materially breached the parties’ agreement that CMN would provide free rack services
to Windstream KDL in Evansville, Indiana, subject to certain power overages provisions.

4, In consideration of CMN’s provision of free rack space and power to Windstream
KDL in Evansville, Windstream KDL provided CMN with free rack space and power at its
Indianapolis, Indiana facility. Based on information known to date, CMN accrued $259,747.51 in

power overages and $382,000 in rack space charges for sixteen racks (i.e., a number in excess of
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the 10 racks to be provided free of charge per the parties’ agreement) at the Indianapolis facility
since 2008. Windstream KDL is entitled to payment from CMN for those accrued fees.

5. Finally, CMN is indebted to Windstream KDL for outstanding invoices for services
Windstream KDL provided that are related to a third-party contract owned by Windstream KDL.
Windstream KDL contracted with affiliates of third-party Duke Energy Corporation (“Duke
Power”) to have the right to attach fibers to Duke Power’s network of poles, and CMN contracted
with Windstream KDL to access that network. CMN is contractually obligated to pay for the
installation of its fiber optic cables in Duke Power’s network of utility poles through Windstream
KDL. Based on information known to date, CMN has an outstanding balance of $329,001.72
related to those services.

PARTIES

6. Windstream KDL is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky with its headquarters in the State of Arkansas. Itis a leading provider
of advanced network communications and technology solutions for consumers, businesses,
enterprise organizations, and wholesale customers across the United States. Windstream KDL
provides these solutions across a range of services including cloud computing, integrated voice
and data services, internet security services, and consumer video services.

7. Upon information and belief, CMN is a corporation organized under the laws of the
State of Indiana with its headquarters in the State of Indiana. It is engaged in, among other things,
fiber optic communication services, and it offers internet, telephone, television, and data
communication services. CMN?’s registered agent for service of process in Indiana is National

Registered Agents, Inc., 334 North Senate Avenue, Indianapolis, IN 46204.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has jurisdiction over these proceedings pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1334.
9. This Court has personal jurisdiction over CMN under Rule 7004(f) of the Federal

Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure (the “Bankruptcy Rules”).

10. This adversary proceeding constitutes a “core” proceeding as defined in 28 U.S.C.
8 157(b)(2)(A), (B) and (C). In the event that this or any other appropriate Court finds any part of
this adversary proceeding to be “non-core,” Windstream KDL consents to the entry of final orders
and judgments by this Court, pursuant to Rule 7008 of the Bankruptcy Rules.

11.  Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. 88§ 1408 and 1409 because this adversary
proceeding arises under and in connection with a bankruptcy case pending in this district.

12.  This adversary proceeding is initiated under Bankruptcy Rule 7001(1) and (9), and
28 U.S.C. § 2201.

RELEVANT BACKGROUND

l. The Contracts

13.  Throughout the tenure of their relationship, the parties have executed multiple
agreements related to the provision of rack space, power, and shared infrastructure. Relevant here
are the following agreements:

a. the Collocation and Maintenance Agreement and its amendments (the
“Collocation Agreement,” attached as Exhibit 1),

b. the Rack Space Swap Agreement (the “Rack Swap Agreement,” attached as
Exhibit 2).

c. the Pole Attachment Rights/Dark Fiber Rights Exchange Agreement (the “Duke
Power Agreement”),

d. the Fiber Transport Services/Dark Fiber Rights Exchange Agreement (attached
as Exhibit 3),

e. the DWDM Capacity and Maintenance Agreement, and
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f. the Fiber Exchange Agreement.
A. The Collocation Agreement

14.  The parties entered the Collocation Agreement, with an effective date of February
7, 2005, for the purpose of Windstream KDL providing certain maintenance services. Collocation
Agreement 88 1, 3. In exchange for providing the maintenance services, Windstream KDL would
receive a license from CMN to use its facilities. Collocation Agreement 8§ 2, 7. In particular, CMN
agreed to provide licenses for five racks and a power allotment at no additional charge to
Windstream KDL at its Evansville facility (among other facilities). Collocation Agreement § 2 &
Ex. A

15. If Windstream KDL utilized more than the racks allotted under this agreement at
any facility, CMN would be allowed to charge Windstream KDL $500 per additional rack.
Collocation Agreement § 4. Similarly, if Windstream KDL consumed additional power beyond its
allotment, the parties created a formula for that cost coverage. Collocation Agreement 8 4.

B. The Rack Swap Agreement

16.  The parties also entered the Rack Swap Agreement for the purpose of providing
each party with free rack space and 30 amps of power per rack at each other’s respectively owned
facility. Rack Swap Agreement § 1. Windstream KDL was entitled to ten racks and 300 amps of
power at no additional charge at CMN’s Evansville facility; CMN, in turn, was entitled to ten racks
and 300 amps of power at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility. Rack Swap Agreement § 2.
For any additional power used beyond the provided 300 amps, the parties agreed to a formula for
determining that cost coverage. Rack Swap Agreement § 2.

17. In sum, under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Swap Agreement,
Windstream KDL was entitled to (and it was the intent of the parties that Windstream KDL have)

free use of fifteen racks and a power allotment without charge from CMN.
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C. The Duke Power Agreement

18. Finally, the parties entered into the Duke Power Agreement on February 7, 2005,
for the purpose of CMN accessing Duke Power’s utility poles in order to locate fiber optic cables
on those poles through Windstream KDL’s separate contract with Duke Power. Duke Power
Agreement § 1.

19.  Windstream KDL had contracted with Duke Power to access its utility poles for
Windstream KDL’s fiber optic cable. Duke Power Agreement 8 1 & Ex. A. CMN wanted access
to Duke’s utility pole network as well and agreed to pay Windstream KDL a premium to piggyback
off of its contract with Duke Power. Duke Power Agreement § 4. CMN notified Windstream KDL
when it wanted to locate fiber optic cable along Duke’s utility poles; if approved, Windstream
KDL oversaw the installation and charged CMN all costs for said installation as well as an
overhead allocation equal to 15% of the total costs. Duke Power Agreement § 4.

1. The Breaches

20. First, since December 2012 and continuing through September 2021, CMN has
billed Windstream KDL $1,008,687.32 for excess rack space in connection with CMN’s
Evansville facility. These charges were billed to Windstream KDL without accounting for the
fifteen free rack spaces provided under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Swap Agreement.

21.  Based upon information and belief, Windstream KDL has used fewer than fifteen
racks at the Evansville facility at all relevant times. And despite inadvertently paying those charges
in full through September 2020 (in the amount of $896,703.32), Windstream KDL disputes those
charges in the amount of $1,008,687.32 and demands a refund of $896,703.32.

22.  Second, based upon information and belief, CMN occupies sixteen racks of space

at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility, eleven since 2008, followed by the addition of five
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racks from 2009 through 2013.2 This usage was in excess of the ten licensed racks under the Rack
Swap Agreement. Thus, CMN has accrued $382,000 in rack space fees at the Indianapolis facility.
23.  Third, based upon information and belief, CMN has also accumulated power
overages at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility since 2008, totaling $259,747.51.
24.  Fourth, Duke Power filed a proof of claim in Debtors’ bankruptcy proceedings
totaling $1,134,043.69. See Claim No. 7261. Debtors obtained a reduction in the amounts owed to

Duke Power to $441,393.00 (the “Duke Settlement Payment™). In connection with that negotiated

reduction, Debtors and CMN agreed that CMN would pay directly to Windstream KDL

$200,000.00 (the “CMN Settlement Payment”) of the Duke Settlement Payment to account for

fourteen of CMN’s invoices that were encompassed by Duke’s proof of claim against Windstream
KDL. CMN has not yet paid Windstream KDL that settlement amount.

25. Fifth, based upon information and belief, CMN also owes Windstream KDL
$129,001.72 for outstanding invoices that are unrelated to the CMN Settlement Payment but that
arise out of the Duke Power Agreement. CMN has failed to pay Windstream KDL for those
services rendered.

I11.  The Plan, the CMN Proofs of Claim and the Claim Objections
A. The Plan

26.  On April 1, 2020, the Debtors filed the Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of
Windstream Holdings, Inc., et al., Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (as subsequently
amended, the “Plan”) [Docket No. 2243-1].

27.  OnJune 26, 2020, the Court entered the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and

Order Confirming the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Windstream

2 These five racks were added on or about 6/10/2009, 8/15/2011, 5/7/2012, 7/24/2012, and 11/22/2013.
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Holdings, Inc. et al., Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, confirming the Debtors’
Plan [Docket No. 2243].

28.  The Plan became effective on September 21, 2020 (the “Effective Date”) [Docket
No. 2527].

29.  Pursuant to Article 1.A.38 of the Plan, the deadline for objecting to Claims (as
defined in the Plan), the “Claims Objection Deadline,” “shall be on the date that is the later of (a)
180 days after the Effective Date and (b) such later date as may be fixed by the Bankruptcy Court.”
Based on the provisions of the Plan, the current Claims Objection Deadline is December 15, 2021
[Docket No. 199].

B. The CMN Proofs of Claim and the Claim Objections

30. CMN filed various pre- and post-petition proofs of claim against the Debtors.
Specifically, CMN filed a pre-petition claim in the amount of $432,439.00 (Claim No. 5161
against Windstream KDL.), a pre-petition claim in an unliquidated amount (Claim No. 8710 against
Windstream KDL), and a post-petition claim in the amount of $100,933.36 (Claim No. 8713
against Windstream KDL).

31.  OnJuly 17, 2020, and in compliance with the Order (1) Approving (A) Omnibus
Claims Objection Procedures, (B) Omnibus Substantive Claims Objections and Form of Notice,
and (C) Satisfaction Procedures and Form of Notice and (11) Waiving Bankruptcy Rule 3007(e)(6)

(the “Order Approving Omnibus Claims Objection Procedures’) [Docket No. 1141], the Debtors

filed the Sixth Omnibus Objection to Amended Claims, Cross-Debtor Duplicate Claims, Equity

Interest Claims, and No Liability Claims (the “Sixth Omnibus Objection”) [Docket No. 2317],

which included an objection to Claim 5161 “because, among other reasons, the Debtors are unable
to reconcile each purported liability with their books and records.” See Sixth Omnibus Objection,

1 1. The Sixth Omnibus Objection further provides that the Debtors object to the claims listed on
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Schedule 4 to the proposed order, which includes Claim 5161, because “the Debtors and their
advisors have determined that such claims seek to recover amounts for which the Debtors are not
liable.” Id. at 9 15. As set forth on Schedule 4 to the proposed order, “[p]ursuant to the Debtors’
books and records, no amounts are due and no liability exists for this claimant.” Id. at Schedule
4,p. 1.

32.  On August 7, 2020, CMN filed its response to the Sixth Omnibus Objection
[Docket No. 2379] in which CMN asserts that the Sixth Omnibus Objection should be denied.

33.  OnAugust 31,2021, and in compliance with the Order Approving Omnibus Claims
Objection Procedures, the Debtors filed the Twentieth Omnibus Objection to the No Liability

Claims, Substantively Duplicative Claims, and Claims to Be Modified (the “Twentieth Omnibus

Objection”) [Docket No. 184], which included objections to Claim 8710 and 8713 “because each
purported liability cannot be reconciled with the Debtors’ books and records . . . .” See Twentieth
Omnibus Objection, 1 1. The Twentieth Omnibus Objection further provides that the Debtors
object to the claims listed on Schedule 1 to the proposed order, which includes Claim 8710 and
Claim 8713, because “the Reorganized Debtors and their advisors have determined that such
claims seek to recover amounts for which the Debtors are not liable” and such claims are
“inconsistent with the Debtors’ books and records.” 1d. at 1 11 and 13. As set forth on Schedule
1 to the proposed order, the Reorganized Debtors provide the following additional grounds for
objecting:

Claim 8710. Pursuant to the Debtors’ books and records, no amounts are due and no
liability exists for this claimant. This claim remains unliquidated as of the date hereof.

Claim 8713. Pursuant to the Debtors’ books and records, no amounts are due and no
liability exists for this claimant. This claim alleges obligations related to power charges
for facilities in Wolcott, Marion, and Seymour. However, the claimant owes the
Reorganized Debtors on account of certain power payments for a facility in Indianapolis.
In addition, the claimant owes the Reorganized Debtors for inadvertent payments the

10
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Debtors made on account of fifteen (15) racks in Evansville that were to be free of charge
pursuant to certain contract amendment(s). The Reorganized Debtors have provided
materials for the claimant’s review, including calculations.
Id. at Schedule 1, p. 1.
34.  On September 22, 2021, CMN filed its response to the Twentieth Omnibus
Objection [Docket No. 189] in which CMN asserts that the Twentieth Omnibus Objection should

be denied.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I
(Breach of Contract: Overcharges as to
Collocation Agreement and Rack Space Agreement)

35.  Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

36.  Windstream KDL performed all of its obligations under the Collocation
Agreement and the Rack Swap Agreement.

37.  CMN, however, has breached the Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap
Agreement. CMN has, among other things, (a) overcharged Windstream KDL $1,008,687.32
(through September 2021) for the provision of rack space in Evansville that should have been
free to Windstream KDL, and (b) refused to issue a refund for Windstream KDL’s inadvertent
overpayment of $896,703.32 despite being unjustly enriched by funds CMN did not earn.

38.  These breaches violate at least Section 3 of the Collocation Agreement and
Section 2 of the Rack Swap Agreement and have interfered with Windstream KDL’s contractual
right to free access to fifteen racks and power at CMN’s Evansville facility.

39.  Windstream KDL has satisfied all conditions precedent to seeking relief under

the Collocation Agreement, including Section 18 thereof, and the Rack Swap Agreement,

11
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including Section 14 thereof.

40.  Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of the
breaches of contract.

41.  Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to (i) a declaration that CMN breached
the Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap Agreement, and (ii) monetary damages and/or offset
or recoupment of monetary damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s
proofs of claim.

42.  Windstream KDL may claim greater damages once it better learns through
discovery how CMN calculated certain invoiced charges.

COUNT Il
(Unjust Enrichment)

43.  Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

44.  Asaresult of the conduct described in Count I, CMN has been unjustly enriched
at the expense of Windstream KDL.

45.  CMN has charged $1,008,687.32 (through September 2021) and Windstream
KDL inadvertently paid $896,703.32 for rack space in connection with the Evansville facility.
Those charges did not account for the fifteen racks provided to Windstream KDL under the
Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap Agreement.

46.  Windstream KDL disputed $896,703.32 of those charges because CMN
accepted payment for services it did not perform, but CMN refused to refund $896,703.32 of
those charges.

47.  Windstream KDL has satisfied all conditions precedent to seeking relief under

Collocation Agreement and Rack Swap Agreement.

12
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48.  Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of
CMN’s unjust enrichment at the expense of Windstream KDL.

49.  CMN should be required to disgorge the improper benefits that they unjustly
obtained at the expense of Windstream KDL.

50.  Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to monetary damages and/or offset or
recoupment of monetary damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s proofs
of claim.

51.  Windstream KDL may claim greater damages once it better learns through
discovery how CMN calculated certain invoiced charges.

COUNT 1l
(Declaratory Judgment — Evansville Facility Racks)

52. Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.
53. A substantial controversy exists as to the parties’ rights and obligations under the
Collocation Agreement and Rack Space Agreement.
54.  Windstream KDL therefore seeks the following declarations:
a. Under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Space Agreement,
Windstream is entitled to licenses to 15 racks free of charge in CMN’s
Evansville facility.
b. CMN invalidly charged $1,008,687.32 for excess rack space in connection
with CMN’s Evansville facility for the time period of December 2012 to

September 2021, and such amount is not due and owing to CMN.

COUNT IV
(Breach of Contract — Overdue Invoices for Rack Space and Power)

55.  Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

56.  Windstream KDL performed all of its obligations under the Rack Swap

13
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Agreement.

57.  CMN, however, has breached the Rack Swap Agreement. CMN has, among
other things: (a) utilized sixteen racks at Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility and
accumulated $382,000 of unpaid rack space fees, and (b) incurred power overages at
Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility and accumulated $259,747.51 of unpaid power
overage fees.

58.  These breaches violate at least Section 2 of the Rack Swap Agreement.

59.  Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of the
breaches of contract.

60.  Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to (i) a declaration that CMN breached
the Rack Swap Agreement, and (ii) monetary damages and/or offset or recoupment of monetary
damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s proofs of claim.

COUNT V
(Declaratory Judgment — Indianapolis Facility Racks)

61.  Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the
foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

62. A substantial controversy exists as to the parties’ rights and obligations under
the Rack Space Agreement.

63.  Windstream KDL therefore seeks the following declarations:

a. Since 2008, CMN has at all times used in excess of 10 racks in Windstream
KDL’s Indianapolis facility.

b. CMN is responsible for license fees and power overages for its use of in excess
of 10 racks in KDL’s Indianapolis facility.

COUNT VI
(Breach of Contract — Duke Power Agreement)

64.  Windstream KDL incorporates and realleges each of the allegations in the

14
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foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

65.  Windstream KDL performed all of its obligations under the Duke Power
Agreement.

66. CMN, however, has breached the Duke Power Agreement. CMN has, among
other things, failed to pay $129,001.72 in outstanding invoices to Windstream KDL for
installation of CMN’s fiber cables on Duke Power’s network of utility poles. Additionally,
CMN has not yet paid the CMN Settlement Payment to Windstream KDL.

67. CMN’s breach violates at least Sections 4 and 6 of the Duke Power Agreement
and have interfered with Windstream KDL’s right to payment for services rendered to CMN at
Windstream KDL’s expense.

68.  Windstream KDL has satisfied all conditions precedent to seeking relief under
the Duke Power Agreement, including Section 25 thereof.

69.  Windstream KDL has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of the
breach of contract.

70.  Windstream KDL, therefore, is entitled to (i) a declaration that CMN breached
the Duke Power Agreement, and (ii) monetary damages and/or offset or recoupment of
monetary damages CMN is pursuing against Windstream KDL in CMN’s proofs of claim.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

71.  Windstream KDL respectfully requests that this Court enter a judgment granting
the following relief:

a) A declaration that CMN breached the Collocation Agreement;
b) A declaration that CMN breached the Rack Swap Agreement;

C) A declaration that CMN breached the Duke Power Agreement;

15
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A declaration that under the Collocation Agreement and the Rack Space
Agreement, Windstream is entitled to licenses to 15 racks free of charge in
CMN’s Evansville facility;

An award of $896,703.32 as a refund for Windstream KDL’s overpayment
for racks in Evansville, Indiana, under the Collocation Agreement and the
Rack Swap Agreement;

A declaration that CMN invalidly charged $1,008,687.32 for excess rack
space in connection with CMN’s Evansville facility for the time period of
December 2012 to September 2021, and such amount is not due and
owing to CMN;

A declaration that Since 2008, CMN has at all times used in excess of 10
racks in Windstream KDL’s Indianapolis facility;

A declaration that CMN is responsible for license fees and power overages
for its use of in excess of 10 racks in KDL’s Indianapolis facility;

An award of $641,747.51 for CMN’s use of sixteen racks with excess
power charges in Indianapolis, Indiana;

An award of $129,001.72 for CMN’s outstanding invoices and related
debts concerning the Duke Power Agreement;

An award of $200,000.00 for the CMN Settlement Payment that CMN has
not yet paid to Windstream KDL

An order sustaining the objections to Claim Nos. 5161, 8710, and 8713 for
the reasons stated in this Complaint, the Sixth Omnibus Objection, and the
Twentieth Omnibus Objection;

A judgment that CMN take nothing on Claim Nos. 5161, 8710, and 8713;

Attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses incurred in this Adversary Proceeding
to the extent recoverable;

Pre- and post-judgment interest up to the statutory maximum; and

Any other relief that this Court may deem just, proper, or equitable under
the circumstances.

16
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Respectfully submitted,
NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT US LLP

By: _/s/ James V. Leito IV

Richard Krumholz

Kristian W. Gluck

James V. Leito IV (pro hac vice pending)
NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT US LLP
2200 Ross Avenue, Suite 3600

Dallas, Texas 75201-7932

Telephone:  (214) 855-8000
Facsimile: (214) 855-8200
richard.krumholz@nortonrosefulbright.com
kristian.gluck@nortonrosefulbright.com
james.leito@nortonrosefulbright.com

COUNSEL FOR WINDSTREAM KDL, LLC

17
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cffecnve as of the 7" day of February, 2005 by and between Kentucky Data Link, Ine, (KDL,
a Kentucky corporatmn, and Cinergy MetroNet, Inc, (“CMN®), an Indiana corporation. KDI.. _
and CMN are sametlmes teferred to hereln collectively as the “Parties” or individually as a

“Party”

I8 _E_gp_o_sg CMN owns network trammzssmn facﬂztzes (each mdlvxdually a “r_gthﬂ”_
collectweiy the “Eggh,m_”) at various locations throughout its fiber network, KDL has the
expertise and abrhty _:q a_naiutam the Facility sites. KDL and CMN wish to enter mto an

exchange of the right to use CMN Facilities for the performance of mainfenance services as moxre
parti,cularly set fmth below .

2. ok ' @L Sltc X bzt A, sets forth a hst ot those Famhtles where KDI wxshes to obtam
collocatmn space from CMN (each individually a “KDL, Site” collectively the “KDL Sites”). In
the ﬁ.ztute, the Pames may incorporate addltmnai Facﬁztzes mto thls Agreement hy amendment.

3 Coiioggtion Iacens For each of the KDL Sites, CMN grants KDL a hcense io
oocupy, _use and maintain rack spaces for purposes of installing, operating and mamtammg
KDL's eqmpment (‘Licensed Space”). The Licensed Space for each of the KDL Sifes is set
forth in Exhibit A. As part of this license, at its sole cost, CMN shall provide thirty (30) amps of
power 1o the Lmensed Space (“KDL’s Power. Allocation™ and heat, ventilation and .air
condmomng service to the Licenséd Space sufficient to maintain an ambient teanperature
between fifty (50) and eighty (80) degrees Fahrenheit and to maintain the level of relatwe non-
condensmg um1d1ty between ﬁve pelcent (5%} and nmety-five percent (95%) R

4, A@dgtmg]ul §emg KDL may request that CMN provxde addltional AC ot DC
powcr, backup power, space or racks at any KDL Site. Subject to its own operational needs,
CMN shall yse commetcially reasonable efforts to accommodate any KDL request for additional -
services, .CMN shall charge KDL Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) a month for any additional
racks. ‘For'any power utilized by KDL beyond KDL’s Power Allocation at a KDL Site, CMN
shall invoige KDL baged on the followmg formula without & mark up or an overhead allocation
(“KDL’s Portmn”) [(A) divided by (B)] times (C) equals KDL’s Portion, where (A) is the total -
~ number of additional breakered amps of power delivered to KDL’s racks in excess of KDL’s
Power Allocation at the KDY, Site; (B) is the total breakered amps of power delivered to all racks
at the KDL Site (including KDL’s racks); and (C) is the total power costs CMN incurs in
conneetion with the KDL Site incloding the cost of bteakered amps of power and power costs for
common atea powet, such as power for HVAC usage. For example, assume that KDL has 2
racks at the KDL and has exceeded the KDL Power Allocation by 100 breakered amps of power,
Further assume that at the KDL Site thei¢ are a total of 10 racks (including KDL’s 2 racks) using
a total of 1000 breakered amps of power (including KDL’s 100 additional amps of power).
Finally, assume that the total power costs incurred by CMN associated with the Bvansville
Facility in the example month is $5,000, KDL’s Portion for such month would be $500 (100
divided by 1000 = .01 x $5,000).
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L equipment in a Licensed Space. 'KDL"shall not insiall any equlpment in'a Licerised
that overtoads any “electrical ciruits or associated hardware, All KDL eqmpment located
L:censed Spaoe shall ‘be Maintained i opemted by KDL it siccorddnics with pradent
telecommumcatmns industry standards and procedures, in accordance with all applicable local,
state and federal !aws, ordmances and regulatmns '

6, Access Sub,;ect to reasonable rules and regulations as may be promulgated by CMN
from time to time, KDL shall hava uneswrted access to cach KDL Site twenty-four (24) houts 2
day, seven (7) days a week for purposes of accessing the Licensed Space and performing KDL’s
obhgatmm under this Agreement. CMN hereby grants KDL an easement of ingress and egress
o extend K{)L’s nctwork and eqmpment from the puhhc rights of way into the Llcansed Space.

7. e Mgmgenance of Facﬂltle KDL shall perform or oversee the perfonnance of all
foutme and emergency maintenance at each KDL Site, as may be amended from time to time.
Such ‘maintenance shall include but is not limited to the following! (i) maintaining the
perfonnance of all batteries and rectifiers; (if) keeping the KDL Site, inside and out, free from
clebrxs and broom clean; (iif) continvally remotely monitoring available secutity, envitonmental
and power alarms (if installed by CMN) at each KDL Site; (iv) monitoring the clitmate
temperature of each KDL Site; and (v) providing escorted access to any third parties tequiring
access fo 8 KDL Site, CMN shall be responsible for reimbursing the out of pocket Costs
mourred by KDL in performmg the mamtenance actlwtws set forth in tlns ect;on 7.

8. .. Bﬂh imd Pavment A Party providmg or pexformmg a2 servioe (Lefemed to in this

gggan as & “Provider”) to the other Party (reforred to in this Section 8 as a “Recipient”) shall
invoice the Recipient for all amounts due under this Agreement, All invoices shall be due and
payable w1thm thirty (30) days of receipt by the Recipmnt Should the Recipient dispute any of
the charges on gu invoice, it shall notify the Provider in writing within sixty (60) days after the
Recipient’s receipt of invoiee of the disputed charges and the Rﬂcxpient’s reason for disputing the
same. If the Recipient does not deliver a challenge or dlspute to any invoice within sixty (60)
days after the Reciplent’s receipt of that invoice, the invoice will be considered final and
accepted without recourse or later dispute by the Reclplent

9. Term. The initial tstm of this Agreement shall be forty (40) years. After the
expitation of the initial term the Agreement shall continue on a year-fo-year basis until
terminated by elther Party with one hundred eighty (180) days prior written notice.

10. Termination. Notwithstanding anythmg to the confrary in Section 9 above, either
Party may terminate this Apreement during the initial term by delivering notice to the non
terminating Party at least twenty-four {24) months in advance of the proposed termination date.
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. 1) cgal,

N enforcenbie against such’I’arty in accordanca vmh its terms, sub_;ect to hankruptcy, msolvency, or
oreditors’ - tights. EXCEPT A8 SPECIFICALLY "SET FORTH IN “THIS AGREEMENT,
NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT
TO THE LICENSED SPACE OR THE EQUIPMENT OR MAINTENENACE SERVICES TO
BE PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF
MFRCHANTABILITY OR TITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND ALL SUCH
WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED, ALL LICENSED SPACED Ib
EXPRESSLY AC(,EPI ED BY KDL ON AN “AS” “IS” “WHERE I8, BASIS :

2 . 5._":_ gmltguon of L;_gbilitg NOTWITHSTANDING‘ ANY PROVISION OF THIS
AGREEMENT TO THE CONTRARY, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY ITS GROSS
NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO
THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY DIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, PUNITIVE
OR CONSEQUENTIAL COSTS, LIABILITIES OR DAMAGES, WHETHER FORESEEABLE
OR NOT ARISING OUT OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER I'HIS AGREEMENl L

13. _ gdle The Parﬁes acknowledge and agzee that meparable damagc would oceur
in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with
their speclﬁc terms and agree that, due to the unique subject matter covered by this Agreement,
each Party shall be entitled 1o specific perfonnanoe of the obhgauons hereunder, Addmonally, if
KDL, fails to perform any of its obligations under gecuog 7 of this Agreement in u timely
manner, with reasongble prior notice to KDL under the ciroumstances, CMN Ay petform such
obligation and invoice KDI. for any out of pocket expenses incurred by CMN in performing such
obligation. "The Patties mtend for the remedies set forth in this Section 13 to be the sole
remedles avallable to erthsr Party for abreach of thls Agreement o

14. L Qan Ag;eemgg_; Obhggtmn The Pames prekusly entered into a Services
Agteement by and between KDL, CMN and Nosdight, Inc. (fk/a Cincrgy Communications
Company) dated March 1, 2004 (“Services Agreement”). - The Services Apresment was -
approved by the United States Department of Agricnlture’s Rural Utilities Service Diviston (the
“RUS"). The purpose of this Agreement is o further clayify the Parties’ obligations under an
arrangement the Parties beliove is permitted under the Services Agreement. KDL, however,
acknowledgcs and understands that CMN’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are
expressly subject and subordinate to the Loan and Security Agreement dated November 14,
2005, by and between CMN and the United States of America (“Loan Agreement”).
Notwithstanding anything fo the contrary herein, if this Agreement is determined by the RUS to
be violation of the Loan Agteement, upon written votice to KDL from CMN, this Agreement
shall immediately terminate and neither Party shall have any finther obligation to the other Party
herepnder. CMN shall endeavor to provide KDL with as much advance notice of termination as
possible under the ¢ircumstances.

Lot
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afﬁhate nf such Party, o the : survwmg entity fnio whmh such Party may Thetgs or consohdate oF
to any. cntity 1o which the Party transfers all, or substantzaily all, of its business and assets. Each
Parfy shall also have the right, without the consent of the other Party, io assign or otherwise
ttansfer this Agreement as collateral to any londer of such Party (or lender to any successor or
assig! | of __such Party); pmvnded tha}, the ass:gnee or transferee in any such circumstance shall
-confinue to be subject to all of the provisions of this Agrcement, except that any lender shall not
incuf any ebh gations under this Agreement sor shall it be restricted from exercising any right of
enfurcement or forcolosure with respect to any related security interest or lien, so long as the
purchaser in foreclosure is subject to the provisions of this Agleement In the event any such
Iendex ass:gns any nghts it has under this Agreement, the non assi gnmg Party agrees to accept

prcvisions of thns Agz aement

6. - Noﬁces All notices and other commumcanons required or permntted under this
Agrt;ement shall be in writing and shall be given by United States first class mail, postage
prepaid, reglstered or certiﬁed teturn xeceipt requested, or by hand delivery (including by means
ofa profesqional messenger semce or ovemlght mail) addressed as follows:

All notmes and_ot_her_ commumications given to KDL at:

( Kentucky Data Link, Inc,
T 3701 Communications Way

Evansville, IN 47715

Attn: President

witha copy to:

Kentucky Data Link, Tnc.
8829 Bond Street
Overland Patk, KS 66214
Atin: Legal Dept

All notices and other communications shall be given CMN at:

Cinergy MetroNet, Inc.
3701 Communications Way
Evansville, IN 47715

Attn; President

Cinergy MetroNet, Ing.
8829 Bond Stret
Overland Park, KB 66214
Attr: Legal Department
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effective when actually recsived
sed, Ejther Party may be similar notice given change the address to which future
or other communications shalibesent. -~ -

17. - Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be in default under this Agreement if and to the
extent that any failute or delay in such Party’s pexformance of one or more of ity obligations
hereunder is caused by any of the following conditlons, and such Party’s performance of such
obligation ot obligations shall be excused and extended for and during the peried of any such
delay: act of God; fire; flood; govemment codes, ordinances, laws, rules, regulations or
restrictions (collectively; “Regulations”); wae or civil disorder; strikes or other labor disputes; or
any_cause beyond the reasonable control of such Party. The Party claiming relief under this
Seetion 17 shall nofify the other in writing of the existence of the event relied on and the
cessation or termination of said event, and the Party claiming relief shall exercise reasonable
cotnmerpial efforts to minimize the time of any such delay. .

18,  Dispute Resolution The Parties hersto plan to use due diligence and use their best
efforts to work fogether to implement this Agresment and amicably resolve their differences.

Howevet, the Parties undexstand that issues and conflicls may arise where they reach an
impasse. The Parties acknowledge their desire to reach a working solution by using good faith
atteriipts to resolve such issues and conflicts. Any claim or controversy related (o or arising out
of this Agresment, whethet in conteact or in tort (*Dispute”), will be resolved on a confidentlal
basis, according to the Tollowing process, which either Party may start by delivering to the other
Party s written notice desctibing the Dispute and the amount involved (“Demand”).

o+~ -After receipt of 8 Demand, authorized reptesentatives of the Parties will mest at 2
nufually agreed upon time and place to try to resolve the Dispute by negotiation. If the Dispute
remains unresolved thirty (30) days afier receipt of the Demand, oither Party may start binding
arbitration i Bvansville, Indiena. The Parties will use their best efforts to conclude the
arbitration as expediently as possible but in no event latet than sixty (60) days following
commencement of any proceeding, provided there is no interim telief or court action sought that
would delay the Parties from resolving the Dispute within such sixty (60) day period. If such
interim relief or court action is sought, then the Parties will use their best efforts to conclude the
arbiiration within sixty (60) days following the final decision of the court in such action. The
arbitration will be before a three-arbirator panel, Each Party will select one partial arbitrator, in
its sole discretion, to represent ifs interest at its sole expense. The partial acbitrator may be an
employee, director, officer ot principal of the Party. The final arbitrator, who shall be impartial,
will be selected by the two partial arbitrators. In the event the two partial arbitrators shall fail to
select an impartial arbitrator, either Party tnay apply to a comt of law to have a judge select an
impartial arbitrator, The three arbitrators by majority ruling may adopt such procedures as they
deem efficient and appropriate for making the determinations submitted to them for adjudication,
and the Patties agree that no court shall have the power to interfere with the proceedings and
judgments of the arbitrators, No statemnents by, or communications between, the Parties duting
negotiation or mediation, or both, will be admissible for any purpose in arbitration. Fach Party
shall hear its internal expenses and its attorney’s fees and expenses, and jointly shate the cost of
the impartial arbiteator; provided, No interest shall be applied 1o any artbitration award. It is the
intent of the Patties to first allow the arbitratots an opportunity to meet and negotlate a decision,




29-07893-rdd Doc-25B4-File il 2220/ 2 & ntéhetk i 22020 /20 3B AD: 0&xhibihibit Rg -
Collocation and Maintefapicg&4Agreement Pg 7 of 14

e e docilon) of 8

Notwlthstandmg the foregoing, cither Pariy | hereto may ‘resort fo a cowrt by applying
I’or mtertm relief, without the requirement to post a bond or secutity, if such Party reasonably
determines that such relief is necessaty because claims for money are not adequate to prevent
irreparable injury to it of to & third pafcy The venue for any such proceeding shall be in
Evansvxile, Indiana '

19.. Non Eggglgswe. Thxs Agxeement is non excluswe and each Pariy reserves the mght to
enter info separate agrecments or arrangcments with third partles to the extent that such
agreaments or atrangement do not v101ate the terms of this Agreemens

ovg g L& . Tms Agreement shali be govemed by and wnstrued in accordance with
the domestw laws of the State of Indiana, w1thout 1eference toits chome of law prmclples

2, gw T The fa:.lure of e1ther Party hereto to enforce any of the plo‘JlSlOnS of this
Agreement or the wavier thereof in any instance, shall not be construed as a general waiver or
relinquishment of its part of any such prowsmn, but the same shall nevertheless be and remain in
full force and effect

23, . Third Part ig ts Nothmg mﬂ:us Agreemcnt is mtended to provide any legal tights
to anyone. not an executmg Party of thls Agreement :

No Person@ habﬂntx Each ac,tmn or clann against any Party arising under or relating fo
this Agreement shall be made only against such Party as a corporation, and any lability relating
thereto shall be enforceable only against the corporate assets of such Parly. No Party shall seek
to plerce the cotporate veil or otherwise seek to impose any liability relating to, ar arising fromm,
this Agreeiment againss any shareholder, employee, officer or director of the other Party. Each of
such persons is an intended beneficiary of the mutual promises set forth in this Seotion 24 and
shall be entltled to enfﬁrce the obligations of this _egmg__z_éi_

25, Relationship of the Pame . The relationship between CMN and KDL shall not be that of
partners, agents or gomt yenture.

26, Intemreﬁgtmn The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience or
reference oniy, and shall in no way define, modify or restrict the meaning or interpretation of the
terms or provisions of this Agreement Where context sequires, singular terms shall include
references fo the plural and vice versa. Unless the context otherwise requites, the words
“hereof,” “hereby” and “herein” and words of similar meaning when used in this Agreement
refer 1o this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular artiele, section or provision of this
Agreement, The format, words and phrases used in this Agreement shall have the meaning
generalty understood in the broadband and communications industries.
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1 of this Agreament,

yong the iermination or expirailon “ghall sutvive the
nof this Agresment.  © | e

28. .‘Entite Agreement. This Agreement and Exhibit A sets forth the entire understanding and
supersedes all prior agreements and understanding between the Parties relating to the subject
matter hereof. This Agteement may not be amended or otherwise modified excopt by an
instummont in writing signed by an authorized representative of each Party, Neither Party shall be
bound by any definition, condition, provision, tepresentation, warranty, covenant ot promise
regarding the subject maiiet hereto other than as expressly stated in this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEMOF, the Pafties have executed this Agreement the day and year written above.

eii',i_' Elqr Data Link, Inc, cmegg‘y M#truth, Ine.

gnre : | ignature

“:gé\!\f'\ C}F—fo\\vh\& ..,J“; tH’\ F:‘P\(”r‘
Name _ Name

Q(’fb ad o PHchM
Title -~ Title

'9/{5/10 8] 5 i
Date Date | ¥
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Address .‘

T Gy, Stste

Ave

12w Waéﬂl‘n.ﬁtéh_ B

Greencastle IN e

3701 -

Way ..

TR Bvansv:iie,m RS
Commumcatlons Sl SRR

600K Avanue T

Seymour, iN

287N 15" 8t -

- Vumennes, IN

nmﬂmwaweﬁ

Madison, IN

219 N Jotnings Rd

Noﬁh‘iaiﬁén A

146 W Market St .

| Wabash IN

703 Thom St .- - -

North Matchester -

317E State St -~ -

- | Hontingion IN_~

37658 US231 .. -

Wolcoft IN - .-

ISSEW 16" St

_ | Mation IN
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-Amendment to Co[locatlon and Maintenance Agreement_ R

This Amendment modrﬁes the COlIocation and Maintenance Agreement entered between Kentuckv Data
Link {“KDL"), 2 Kentuckv corporation, and Cinergy MetroNet Inc. {“CMN™), an Indiana corporation,
dated February 7, 2005 (“Agreement’). KDL and CMN are ‘veferred to herein collectwelv as “the Parties”

and indlvldually asa "Partv .

Sectron 2 of the Agreement and atl correspondmg references to ”KDL S:te” in the Agreement are hereby
modiﬂed as foliows ’ : . . -

' 2. K..LlQM.N.éﬁﬁ.. ExhibitAsets fori:h a ilst of those Facillties where KDL wlshes to obtam
collocation space frorn CMN_{each Indluidual[y a "KDL[CMN Site” co[lectiVely the Jg)_i_.,um
Sltes“') i n the future,. the Partles may mcorporate addltionai Faet[itres fnto this Agreement by
amendment ' - :

. Section 7 of the Agreement shall be modlfled to the foIIowing

7 Mgrntenance of Fgcﬁitres, l(DL shall perform or oversee the performanr:e of all routine

and emergency maintenance at each KDL/CMN SIte, as may be amended from tlme 10 time by

' following* (i) malntaining i:he performance of all batterles and. rectifiers, {ii) keeping the

KDL/CMN Site, tnslde and out, free frorn debris and hroom clean; {i) continua]lv remote[y
( """ h rnonrtoring avallahle secuntv, enwronmenta! and power a!arms (i, lnstaiied by CMN) at each
KDL}CMN Site, {iv) rnomtorlng the dlimate temperature of each KDL slte, and {v) provicimg _

esr:orte 1.acc to.any thlrd partles requlring access to a KDL/CMN Site. CMN shall be

responsih[e for relmbursing the out of pocket Costs incurred by KDL related to the repiacement

of any equipment owned hy CMN ar, used exciusively by CMN or. the perforrnance of any repair

services by a thlrd party on equiprnent owneci by CVN or used exciusiueiy by CMN. Por

Lot KDL’,s soie cost In tne event CMN expands or mociiﬂes 3 KDL/C.MN Site at anv time after
o August 15, 2010, to add floor space that requlres additional monitoring capabilities, unless
’ otherwlse agreed o by the partles, KDL shall not be requ!red to monitor or otherwise, perform

- any maintenence activities for the additionai space,

. Except as modified hereln, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain unmodified and In
full force and effect. The Agreement and this Amendment constitute the Parties’ entire agreement
refated to the subject matter contained in each. ‘

. This Amendment shall be effective a5 of the last date entered below and may be executed in several

" gounterparts, each of which shall constitute one binding agreement on the Parties herato and each
executed counterpart shall be deeiiﬁeci an original, Facsrmiie slgnatures shall be accepted as valid and
b[nd!ng for all purposes, - :
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Tha Partje a_ aver that the slgnatorles,he!ow have autharity fo slgn. thls Amendment

ame: John Cinell

Pr!nted __m_q:}ohn Greenbank g Printe__
Titié: as' President N Title; as Preside’nt
Date: “/ ‘7/ 4 . Date; U ]65]15
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Thls Amendment # 2 is effective as of ch[ day of June, 2012 ("Eﬁectlue Dgt "), end modiﬂes the
Co!lncation and Malntenancc Agreement entered between Kentucky Data l.ink n/kfa WIndstream
Kentuckv Data Link in¢. (‘ “KDL"), & Kentucky corporetion, end CInergy MetroNat, Inc. nkfa CMN-RUS,
Inr:.("g_ug&"], an lndrana corporatron, dated February 7, 2005 (”Agreement") KDL and CMN are referred

to herein coltectivelv as "the Partles" and Indwldually asa "Paﬂy A

%

The Agreement shell be deemed amended as follows.

Euggose. Pursuant to ,S_e;;_m ef the Agreement, KDL wlshes to obtaTn ad dltlona! rack spece In
CMN's de_te,genter ioeated at 3701 Communrr:ations Wey, Evansvil!e, N ("Data Cegter”) CMNIs

willing t to grent KDL such rack space in the Data Center in accordance wlth the terms of the _
Agreernentancl this Amendment. . ~‘ S : AT '

2, .I.Ioense. CMN hereby grants KDL a non: excluslve year to year I!cense to eccupv those racks and
portions of Facks that are. ]ocated in the Data Canter end !denﬂﬂed in i{@gjg_; to thls
Amendment [each a "_L(,DL Reg!s") . . a :

5. With written notsce at Jeast, thlrty {30) days prior to the end of the then
current Ilcense term, koL mav termlnate that portion of the license app!icable ta any KDL Rack
If CI wishes to terminate KDL's Jicense to use a KDL Rack, CMN shall provide KDL with written
notlce at leest nlnetv (90) days prler to the eénd of the then current ltcense term, Prler to the

3-

4, nc'ense g, .’I'he ]icense fee for the Iicenses granted In eg;!on ls set forth in ghedg!e 1 to
this Amendment {"gumulative [[ggp_; e Fee™). ‘With written notice at least thirty {30) days prior .
to the effactlve date of the Increase, CMN may increase the Cumulatlve License Fee lbased upon
the greater of (a) any actual increases in the cost to operate and malntaln the Data Center
Encluding, but not limited to, lng:r_ee_ses In the prlce of elgctricity; or (2) any Increase In the CPLU

constrmer prica | index from the prevlous year, Payment of the Cumulative License Fee end KDU's
Portlon of the any i edditionet pa harges for the KDL Racks shall ba pald In accorden:e wlth

5, ,ggl_n ;mgms to the L;cegsg fge. Upon the tetmination ofa KDL Rack in accordance wlth Sectlon
3 above, provlded KDL's equipment has been remoued from the vacated KpL Rack, the

Cumulatlve License Fee shall be reduced hy an amount equal to the monthly Ylcense fee for the

vecated KDL Rac]t set forth ing chegg!g tp this Amendment

6. M[_ggugggggg. Except as mod[ffed herein, afl other terrns and conditions of the Agreement
remaln unmodified andin full force and effect. The Agreement and this Amendment canstitute
the. Perties entire agreement related to the subject matter contalned in sach. In cases of
nonﬂlct hetWeen the terms in this Amendment and those In the Agreement, the terms of this
Amendment shall prevail, This Amendment shall be effective on the Effective Date and may be
executed In several counterparts, each of which shall constitute one binding agreement on the
Parties hereta and sach executed counterpart shall be deemed an orlginal, Facsimile signatures
shalt be accepted as valid and btndlng for all purposes.

]

i
v
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The Parties each aver that the s!gnatorles betow have autharltv to stgn this Amendment,

Wlndjgm Kentu:KData I.Ink, lnc

TItIe as President

Reﬂewed JMG !.egal
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'-'.,SCHEDUi.Ei RS

KDL Rac&s 1/3 Dedlcated to KDL

Ra_r.;k Numb_er Munthty License Fee
105.0048 °  :|8i6600
e " Thmm

K L Racks 1/2 dedinated to RDL

'RackNumber Month!v L[cense Fee .
102,30 |$25000 © L
103.07 0. . | 825000 E
'110022 E -525000 e

11204.__ B Nacharge .

112404 . - . $2sooo
11408 - | 525000 -
101,07 7771825000 T

KDL Racks 180% dedicated ta KDL

. RackNumher - Mcnth[y License ]-‘ee -

103,08 i SE000G. T i e

20308 -0 1550000 T

10405 © ~  iUlS50000 G T

10406 - - -] 850000

10407 -

' 10408 .. 3
: 109,11 . 7 7o 8500 T

11001 .7 .l gstode

131205 . o lgspoon o,

11207 ¢ - Clssop00

11301 1850000

11401 $500.00

114.03 $500.00 .

134,07 $500,00

1i4.10 $500.00
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This RACK SPACE SWAP AGREEMENT (“Ag_x;eement”) is effectzve as of the I‘“ day '
of January, 2008 by and ‘bétween Kentucky Data Link, Inc. (“KDL”), a Kentucky corpcratlon,"' e
and Cmergy MetroNet, Inc, (“CMN"), an Indiana corporation. KDL and CMN ate‘_sometxmes
referred to herem collectlvely as the “Parties” or individually as a “Party”. - L

1. _Iil_n:g CMN opetateb a network facility located at 3701 Commumcatxons Way,
Evansville, Indlana {the “Evansville Facifity”). KDL operates a network facility located at. 701
Henry Street, Indianapolis, Indiana (the “Indianapolis Facility”). KDL and CMN wish to enter
into an agrcement for the exchange of rack space and associated rights in the Evansville Facility
for rack space and assocxated nghts in the Indianapolis Facility as more particularly set forth
below.
g

2, Lz.s;_ms_e_

(& In consmeratmn for the license set forth in Section 2(b) below, CMN hereby grants to
KDL a hcense to occupy, use and maintain ten (10) rack spaces for purposes of
installing, operating and maintaining KDL’s equipment in the Evansville Fagility
(“KDL Licensed Space”) As part of this license, at its sole cost, CMN shall provide
thirty (30) amps ‘of power to each of the racks in the KDL Licensed Space (“KDL’s
Power Allocation*) and heat, ventziatlon and air conditioning service to the KDL

-~ Licensed Space. ‘sufficient to maintain an ambient temperature between ﬁfty (50) and
eighty (80) degrees Fahrenhelt and to maintain the level of relative non-condensmg
humxdlty between ﬁve percent (5%) and ninety-five percent (95%). L

For any power utihzed by KDL beyond KDL’s Power Allocation, CMN shall mvmce
KDL based on the followmg formula without a mark up or an overhead allocation
(“KDL’s Portlon”) [(A) divided by (B}] times (C) equals KDL’s Portion, where (A)
is the total number of additional breakered amps of power delivered to KDL’s racks
in excess of KDL’s Power Allocation ‘in the Evansville Fagility; (B) is the total
breakered amps of power delivered to all racks in the Evansville Facility (including
KDL’s racks), and (€) is the total power costs CMN incurs in connection with the

* Bvangville Facmty mcludmg the cost of breakered amps of power and power costs for
common area power, such as power for HVAC usage. For example, assume that
KDL has 10 racks in the Evansville Facility and has exceeded the KDL Power
Allocatxon by 100 breakered amps of power, Further assume that in the Evansville
Facility there are a total of 45 racks (including KDL’s 10 racks) using a total of 1300
breakered amps of power (including KDL’s 1060 additional amps of power). Finally,
assume that the total power costs incurred by CMN associated with the Evansville
Facility in the example month is $12,000. KDL’s Portion for such month would be
$840 (100 divided by 1300 = .07 x $12,000).
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by grants 10 .. ..
N ny affi : maintain ten (10) rack
.spaces for purposes of mstalhng, operatlng and mamtaxmng the ‘equipment of CMN

or any affiliate of CMN in the Indianapolis Facility (“CMN Licensed Space ). As
part of this hcense at its sole cost, KDL shall provide thirty (30) amps of power to
each of the racks (“CMN Pgwer Allocatlon”) in the CMN Licensed Space and heat,
ventilation and air conditioning service to the CMN Licensed Space sufficient to
maintain_an ambient temperature between fifty (50) and eighty (80) degrees
Fahrenhelt and to maintain the level of relative non-condensing humidity between
ﬁve percent (5%) and ninety-five percent (95%).

For cany power utilized by CMN beyond CMN’s Power Allocation, CMN shall
invoice KDL based on the following formula without a mark up or an overhead
allocatxon (“CMN’s Portion”):  [(A) divided by (B)] times (C) equals CMN’s
PO!'U.OR, where (A) is the total number of additional breakered amps of power
dehvered to CMN’s racks in excess of CMN’s Power Allocation in the Indianapolis
I‘ac:hty, (B) is the total breakered amps of power delivered to all racks in the
Indxanapohs Facllxty (including CMN’s racks); and (C) is the total power costs KDL
incurs in connectlon with the Indianapolis Facility including the cost of breakered
amps of power and power costs for common area power, such as power for HVAC
: usage. For example, assume that CMN has 10 racks in the Indianapolis Facility and
Lo exceedsv the CMN Power Allocation by 100 breakered amps of power. Further
assume' that in the Indlanapohs Facility there are a total of 45 racks (including CMN’s
10 racks) using a total of 1300 breakered amps of power (including CMN’s 100
addluonal ‘amps of power). Finally, assume that the total power costs incurred by
KDL assoclated with the Indianapolis Facility in the example month is $12,000.
CMN s Portion for such month would be $840 (100 divided by 1300 = 07 x

$12 000)
3. nstgll_atm_g.

(8) KDL shall be solely responsible for the installation and maintenance of any KDL
equipment in the KDL Licensed Space. KDL shall not install any equipment in the
KDL Licensed Space that overloads any electrical circuits or associated hardware.
All XDL equipment located in the KDL Licensed Space shall be maintained and
operated by KDL in accordance with prudent telecommunications industry standards
and procedures, in accordance with all applicable local, state and federal laws,
ordinances and regulations.
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1p , v _
"CMN Licensed Space that overloads any elecmcal clrcmts or assoclated hardware
TANCMN equlpment ‘located in the CMN Licensed Space shall be maintained and
operated by CMN in accordance with prudent telecommunications industry standards
and procedures, in accordance with all applicable local, state and federal laws,
ordmances and regulations.

4, Access»

(@) Subject to 1easonab1e rules and regulations as may be promulgated by CMN from
time to time, KDL shall have unescorted access to the Evansville Facility twenty-four
(24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week for purposes of accessing the KDL Licensed
Space CMN hereby grants KDL an easement of ingress and egress to extend KDL’s
network and equlpment from the public rights of way into the KDL Licensed Space.

(b) Subject to reasonablc rules and regulations as may be promulgated by KDL from time
to time, CMN shall have unescorted access to the Indianapolis Facility twenty-four
VL)) hours a day, seven (7)days a week for purposes of accessing the CMN Licensed
Space. XDL hereby grants CMN an easement of ingress and egress to extend CMN’s

: network and equxpment from the public rights of way into the CMN Licensed Space.

5. H 1llmg gggl ngmgnt. A Party prowdmg additional power (referred to in this Section
Sas a “Pr v1de ) to the other Party (referred to in this Section 5 as a “Recipient”) shall invoice
the, Recxplent for all amounts due under this Agreement. All invoices shall be due and payable
within 1 hirt (30) days of receipt by the Recipient. -Should the Recipient dispute any of the
charges on an invoice, it shall notify the Provider in writing within sixty (60) days after the
Recnpnent’s recelpt of invoice of the disputed eharges and the Recipient’s reason for disputing the
same, 'If the Recipient does not deliver a challenge or dlspute to any invoice within sixty (60)
days aﬂ;er the Reclpxent’s receipt of that invoice, the invoice will be considered final and

accepted w1thout recoutse or later dispute by the Recipient.

6. . Term The initial term of this Agreement shall be twenty (20) years. After the
expn‘atlon of the initial term the Agreement shall continue on a year-to-year basis until
tenmnated by elther Party with one hundred eighty (180) days prior written notice.

7. Rgpresgtattons and Warranties. Except as expressly set forth herein, each Party
represents and warrants that this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
enforceable agalnst such Party in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency,
and creditors’ rights. EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT,
NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT
TO THE LICENSED SPACE TO BE PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT,
INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY
DISCLAIMED. ALL LICENSED SPACE IS EXPRESSLY ACCEPTED BY EACH PARTY
ON AN “AS” “IS§” “WHERE IS” BASIS.
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imit igbil OTWITHSTANDING . ANY PROVISION OF THIS ...
MENT TO' THE CONTRARY, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY ITS GROSS
H‘_‘NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO
THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY DIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, PUNITIVE
OR CONSEQUENTIAL COSTS, LIABILITIES OR DAMAGES, WHETHER FORESEEABLE
OR NOT, ARISING OUT OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. .

9 . Spgcxﬁc Performance. The Parties aeknow[edge and agree that irreparable damage
would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in
accordance with their specific terms and agree that, due to the unique subject matter covered by
this Agreement each Party shall be entltled to specific performance of the obligations hereunder,

as its sole remedy.

10. . - Loan Agrcement Obligations. The Partics previously entered into a Services
Agreement by and between KDL, CMN and Notlight, Inc. (Fk/a Cinergy Communications
Company) dated March 1, 2004 (“Services Agreement”). The Services Agreement was
approved by the United States Department of Agriculture’s Rural Utilities Service Division (the
“RUS"). The purpose of this Agreement is to further clarify the Parties’ obligations under an
arrangement the Parties beheve is permitted under the Services Agreement, KDL, however,
acknowledges and understands that CMN’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are
expressly subject and subordinate to the Loan and Security Agreement dated November 14,
2005, by and between CMN and the United States of America (“Loan Agreement”).
Noththstandmg anything to the contrary herein, if this Agreement is determined by the RUS to
be violation of the Loan Agreement, upon written notice to KDL from CMN, this Agreement
shall mmedlately terminate and neither Party shall have any further obligation to the other Party
hereunder CMN shall endeavor to provide KDL with as much advance notice of termination as
possxble under the cxrcumstances

11. Aiﬁgmgm Neither Party may assign this Agreement without the written consent of
the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, Notwithstanding the
foregomg, the Parties may assngn this Agreement without the consent of the other Patty to any
affiliate of such Party, to the surviving entity into which such Party may merge or consolidate, or
to any entity to which the Party transfers all, or substantially all, of its business and assets. Each
Party shall also have the right, without the consent of the other Party, to assign or otherwise
transfer this Agreement as collateral to any lender of such Party {or lender to any successor or
asstgn of such Party); provided that the assignee or transferee in any such circumstance shall
continue to be subject to all of the provisions of this Agreement, except that any lender shall not
incur any obligations under this Agreement, nor shall it be restricted from exercising any right of
enforcement or foreclosure with respect to any related security interest or lien, so long as the
purchaser in foreclosure is subject to the provisions of this Agreement. In the event any such
lender assigns any rights it has under this Agreement, the non assigning Party agtees to accept
performance of this Agreement by the assignee so long as the assignee is subject to the
provisions of this Agreement.
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y L cl stage
prepaid, registered or certlfied return recelpt requcsted or by hand delnvery (mcludmg by means

“ofa professxonal messenger service or overnight mail) addressed as follows: -

All noticw and other communications given to KDL at:

Kcntucky Data Link, Inc.
3701 Communications Way
Evansville, IN 47715

Attn Presxdent

w1th a copy to:

Kentucky Data Link, Inc.
8829 Bond Street
Overland Park, KS 66214
Attn; Legal Dept

All notices and other communications shall be given CMN at:

Cmergy MetroNet, Inc.
3701 Communications Way
Evansville, IN 47715

Attn. Presxdent

Cmergy MetroNet, Inc.
8829 Bond Street
Overland Park, KS 66214
Attn Legal Department

Any such notlce or other communication shall be deemed to be effective when actually received
or refused, Either Party may by similar notice given change the address to which future notices
or other communications shall be sent.

13. Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be in default under this Agreement if and to the
extent that any failure or delay in such Party’s performance of one or more of its obligations
hereunder is caused by any of the following conditions, and such Party’s performance of such
obligation or obligations shall be excused and extended for and during the period of any such
delay: act of God; fire; flood; government codes, ordinances, laws, rules, regulations or
restrictions (collectively; “Regulations™); war or civil disorder; strikes or other labor disputes; or
any cause beyond the reasonable control of such Party. The Party claiming relief under this

Section 13 shall notify the other in writing of the existence of the event relied on and the

" cessation or termination of said event, and the Party claiming relief shall exercise reasonable

commercial efforts to minimize the time of any such delay.

Pg
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Dispute Resolution, The Parties hereto plan to use due diligence and use their best

ogether to implement this ‘Agreement and ‘amicably resolve their differences. -

'-Howevcr, ‘the Parties understand that issues and conflicts may arise where they reach an

--impasse:-The’ Parties acknowledge their desire to reach a working solution by. using good faith
attempts to resolve such issues and conflicts, Any claim or controversy related to or arising out
of this Agreement whether in contract or in tort (“Dispute™), will be resolved on a confidential
basis, according to the following process, which either Party may start by delivering to the other
Party a wrltten notlce descmbmg the Dispute and the amount involved (“Demand”).

_ Aﬂer recelpt of a Demand, anthorized representatives of the Parties will meet at a
mutually agreed upon time and place to try to resolve the Dispute by negotiation. If the Dispute
remains unresolved thirty (30) days afier receipt of the Demand, cither Party may start binding
atbitration in Evansville, Indiana. The Parties will use their best efforts to conclude the
arbltratlon as expediently as possible but in no event later than sixty (60) days following
commencement of any proceeding, provided there is no interim relief or court action sought that
would delay the Parties from resolving the Dispute within such sixty (60) day period. If such
interim relief or court action is sought, then the Parties will use their best efforts to conclude the
arbitration within sixty (60) days following the final decision of the court in such action. The
arbitration will be before a three-arbitrator panel. Each Party will select one partial arbitrator, in
its sole discretion, to represent its interest at its sole expense. The partial arbitrator may be an

. employee, director, officer or principal of the Party. The final arbitrator, who shall be impartial,
will be selected by the two partial arbitrators. In the event the two partial arbitrators shall fail to

: select an 1mpart1al arbitrator, either Party may apply to a court of law to have a judge select an
impartial arbitrator. The three arbitrators by majority ruling may adopt such procedures as they

- deem efficient and appropnate for making the determinations submitted to them for adjudication,

and the Pames .agree that no court shall have the power to interfere with the proceedings and
Judgments of the arbitrators, No statements by, or communications between, the Parties during
negotiation or mediation, or both, will be admissible for any purpose in arbitration. Each Party
shall bear its internal expenses and its attorney's fees and expenses, and jointly share the cost of
the lmpartlal arbitrator; provided, No interest shall be applied to any arbitration award. It is the
intent of the Parties to first allow the arbitrators an opportunity to meet and negotiate a decision.
However, if an agreement cannot be reached through negotiation, then the decision(s) of a
majority of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on the Parties.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party hereto may resort to a court by applying .
for interim relief, without the requirement to post a bond or security, if such Party reasonably
determines that such relief is necessary because claims for money are not adequate to prevent
irreparable injury to it or to a third party. The venue for any such proceeding shall be in
Evansville, Indiana.

15. Non Exclusive. This Agreement is non exclusive and each Party reserves the right to
enter into separate agreements or arrangements with third parties to the extent that such
agreements or arrangement do not violate the terms of this Agreement.
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L o 'alver The fallure of elther Party hereto to ‘enforce any of the provisions of this
Agreement or the wavier thereof in any instance, shall not be construed as a general waiver or
relinquishment of its part of any such provision, but the same shall nevertheless be and remain in

full force and effect.

18. ] omtly Drafted. No rule of construction requiring interpretation against the drafting Party
hereof shall apply in the interpretation of this Agreement.

No Th;m Party Rights. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to provide any legal rights.
to anyone not an executing Party of this Agreement.

No Personal Liability. Each action or claim against any Party arising under or relating to
thxs Agreement shall be made only against such Party as a corporation, and any lability relating
thereto shall be enforceable only against the corporate assets of such Party. No Party shall seek
to pierce the corporate veil or otherwise seek to impose any liability relating to, or arising from,
this Agreement against any shareholder, employee, officer or director of the other Party. Each of
such persons is an intended beneficiary of the mutual promises set forth in this Section 20 and

...~ shall be entxtled to enforce the obligations of this Section 20.

21, Relattonshrg of the Parties. The relationship between CMN and KDL shall be that of
mdependent contractors and not be that of partners, agents, or joint venture.

Integpretgtlo The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience or -

refexence only, and shall in no way define, modify or restrict the meaning or interpretation of the
terms or provisions of this Agr¢cment Where context requires, singular terms shall include
references to the plural and vice versa. Unless the context otherwise requxres the words
“hereof,” “hereby” and “herein” and words of similar meaning when used in this Agreement
refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any partrcular article, section or provision of this
Agreement The format, words and phrases used in this Agreement shall have the meaning
generally understood in the broadband and communications industries.

23.  Survival, The Parties’ obligations under this Agreement which by their nature are
intended to continue beyond the termination or expiration of this Agreement, shall survive the
termination ot expiration of this Agreement.

24.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding and supersedes all
prior agreements and understanding between the Parties relating to the subject matter hereof,
This Agreement may not be amended or otherwise modified except by an instrument in writing
signed by an authorized representatrve of each Party. Neither Party shall be bound by any
definition, condition, provision, representation, warranty, covenant or promise regarding the
subject matter hereto other than as expressly stated in this Agreement,

Pg
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‘ Data Link, Iné; Ciu

N [WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have exccuted this Agreement the day and year written above.

rgy Me oNet, Inc. N

: Si

Name Name

gnak gnhture .
Koo Ot eodwaN “Zsbn C, nel |

Q(‘Gb ws 1B Paesp Dot

Title Title

815 /0

3 )il

Date Date
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